1	IN THE SUPREME COURT (OF THE STATE OF	NEVADA	
2	SEAN RODNEY ORTH,			
3	Appellant,	Docket No.: 85229	Electronically Filed Aug 15 2023 10:37 AM	l
4	VS.		Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cour	
5	THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.			
6	Respondent.			
7	(Appeal From A Final Judgment Of The	Eighth Judicial Distric	et Court. In And For	
8	1 \ 11	k, State Of Nevada)	7 2 3 3 4 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	
9		OPENING BRIEF me I		
10	Bates	Nos.: - AA000229		
11	AAUUUUU1 -	- AA000229		
12				
13				
14				
15	C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS, ESQ.			
16	Nevada Bar No. 7902 THE LAW FIRM OF			
17	C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS, CHTD.			
18	629 South Casino Center Boulevard Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

,	
•	
1	
7	B. THE SEARCH ALCO SECURE BY WARRANT WAS UNREA-
3.	SONGABLE WHERE POLICE DID NOTHANE PROBABLE
4.	CAUSE AND EXICENT CIRCUMSTANCES AND BOTH
	OMITTED THE DE MATION AND COMMITTED PERTURY
<u> </u>	FOR THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAKET TO OBTAIN
	AN THE CAL STARCH WARRANT.
	The His Declaration of Accest Detective Lygiose & testif-
	Led that he was aware that Lowe Polanco out his gorte-
<u>(r</u>	Ciend Jesse Cariccoolo gave conflicting accounts of the
	robbery. Polanco told police that Defendant pulled a gan
	havegen in the living area of the apartment and made
	him go to his room alure defendant loaded a brown deffle
	bug with his Compiter, Smith all wess on and 20 guage
19	Shotgun and Defendant State Louis Car. Continued Concento
	a and not did the waters a rabber of the was in
70	the Ketchen BAHBIT Lat 1-2
71	Defective Lyguisch Hen Divers that Defendant fald
7.7	him that he stayed with love Polanco at the apartin-
23	eat, Pelanca bent him the car and Ord phone, there
24	was no robbery, I called laws gentforence just
15	Bo fore I refugned that morning which potoco could
	conform on the cell pliene, I was referring the
27_	Car on fime that morning which had the defle bag
7.%	in it, I took it up to the apartment to return all
	ZIt will have to be denonstrated taxough testmony that
	in the apartment you are in the levery area it you are
32	in the Ketchan Defendant could not commit rousey in the
33	apartment without the gettowend knowing which police
34	had to know due for the small sorr of the apartment.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

(to Polance , It was weird there was no assuer at the
	apartment especially since I just called Blanco's
	apartment especially since I just Called Polanco's gertheing and I decided to go get will when there was no auswer. Solice then otopped no. Tox. I at 2-3.
90	was no unsurer. Police then otogred me. Tox I at 2-3.
٤	Defective Legissel Hates in his declaration my informat- ion was relayed to the defections questioning Jessie and Polanco and tary confirmed that I was lent the Car and cell plume Id.
<u></u>	con was relayed to the detectives questioning Jessie
<u>£</u>	and Polanco and tary confirmed that I was lest the
9	Car and cell phone Id-
10	,
A	Tressee did not Day the autressed me with a gon or that the worknessed a rabbery which highly Tropeaches Polanco.
	that The worknessed a rabbery which highly trapeaches
	Palanco munually told police that I took car in tobbery which was a fulle accessation of a creme agues from once police were told Polanco actually lent me the car.
	which was a fulle accessation of a creme agueus ford
	once police were told Polanes actually leat me the care
	Pelice were aware I had honestly told them I was lent the car and cell plane which the coefle confirmed.
	tent the car and cell plume which the couple confermed,
. 4	The cell plane was never alleged states or police could have called defendent or tracked its GPS Polan cois Hory
	hime Called defendent or tracked its GPS Polan cois Hory
23	was fatally wounded because I just called Fessie to
24	Day I was refurning on his cell plans he lent me.
<u>, </u>	At that point select knew it was not frosture they to
76	believe Polanco, A rebber does list ask to borrous
77	Car and call plane and then is nice enough to refuse
	them on time. Pelice had no reason to be creve Polanco
2	- at all and had every reason to believe Defindant History
<u> </u>	Police L. A was a coul Date of Live to water a de the Co
32	Police did not arrest Defindent with rathery, auto thift
<i>J.</i>	ar Stolen property.
	AA000050

. 1

	<u>-</u>
~	
. (Desertive Lippisch then applied for a Search warrant
2.	in this konomble court and withold impeachment evid-
	ence that impeached Polanco, withold information that
4	bots tered defendent's credibility and littlisch gave false
<u> </u>	testimony when swearing to the court that he clid provide
	the court all facts related to probable cause see 24.2
7	(Affectivit in Support by Defection Lippesch)
9	
9	It is not hard to see that Defective Lypesch was aware
	that Jessie myreached polance by telling police she
	dul not see me with a gen nor did she watness a
	robberg and that Polanco's Stong was impeaded when
	he admitted the car was not taken in the cobbary but
14	was lent to defendant, as was his call phone, when
1 _ 0	Leppisch applied for the warrent to admit's knowling.
16	This information and factically ometted the information
	in his affedant for search warment issuance . Ex-1
	Versus Ex. 2.
14	
	The magistrate was deprived of endance which
<u> </u>	impeached Polanco's Otiny of rabbery al bolsterach
22	defendants ordebeloty that he did not rob polarco
	ad was lest the School is and the care Also, the
24	magestrate Can wood clescera that Detective bepacech
	15 rota creditie informent houself for his fallacy
26	upon the court and has false Swown Statement in
	his affidaut that he did provide all information
	related to probbable cause.
24.	
<u></u>	As such any arment straited by reweighed and it
31	determined there was not cause to cook a Search
32_	warrant or to search and Seage any overlance.
33	Please See Franks V. Delectare 438 U.S. 154 (1978)
39	(A robible cause defermination Strand be roux 10605414
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

,	
_	
۲.	
٤	cpon a Showing relevant information was witheld)
3	
Ý	The exiclence Should be suppressed and the exclu-
<u>5</u>	Junery Wes inder Federal and Herada Laws. Sex
	maps v. ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 654-55 (1961) 2 This
	Thould exclude all andlesse found or that became
<u> </u>	Known uponesich earlence found by police
<u> </u>	
4	C. Conchasion
12_	
	- Where fore it is Defectates prayer this could find
14	Carsa do grant the motion to suppress unthant
1 05	bearing and it accessory allow a heaving my
	The Motion on December 3, 2020 Suppress lon
	to include all endence family the above
	entitled case.
19	
20	
<u></u>	Respectfully Sibnotfed This 21 day Hovenber 2020
22	
<u>?)</u> 24	Sen Orth
<u> </u>	Sean OHR Defendant
24	1 de fredellest.
	
25	
	
	7 AA000052

	EXA(BIT 1	AA000053
		
		
		
		
	<u> </u>	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		⊤₩.
-		
		-
<u> </u>		
		
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
<u>-</u>		
·		
-n 1		



223 Lead Street, Henderson Nevada 89015 Declaration of Arrest

DR#: 20-18994

Arrestee's Name: ORTH, SEAN RODNEY

Date and time of Arrest: 11/3/2020 8:34:33 AM

Charge(s)	Dégree	NRS\HMC
Own/poss gun by prohibit pers	- B	202.360.1

THE UNDERSIGNED MAKE THE FOLOWING DECLARATIONS SUBJECT TO THE PENALTY OF PERJURY AND SAYS: That I am a Peace Officer with the Henderson PD, Clark County Nevada. I learned the following facts and circumstances which led me to believe that the above-named subject committed (or was committing) the above offense/offenses at the location of 981 Whitney Ranch Dr Henderson, NV 89014 And that the offense approximately occurred at 11/3/2020 8:34:33 AM

Details of Probable Cause

On 10/28/2020 at approximately 0711 HPD Units were dispatched to The Marlow Apartments, 981 Whitney Ranch Drive #823, reference a reported armed robbery suspect who was currently at the location. Dispatch advised that the person reporting had stated that the suspect who had committed an armed robbery at the location the night before (reported under HPD DR#20-18989) was currently at their door, possibly armed, and was most likely driving their white Chevrolet Malibu with unknown "Body Shop" plates that he had unlawfully taken the night before:

Upon arrival HPD Patrol Officers observed a vehicle matching that description backing out of a parking space and driving from the area of the apartment. Several uniformed Patrol Units in marked Henderson Police Department Police vehicles began following the vehicle and initiated a stop by activating their overhead emergency lights and sirens, however the suspect vehicle failed to yield and continued towards the exit of the apartment complex, accelerating towards the exit gate. An additional HPD Unit arrived and was outside the exit gate, which was closed, and the suspect opened the driver side door, jumped out, and immediately ran. The suspect vehicle continued to drive forward, unoccupied, crashing into the exit gate of the apartment complex. The suspect was carrying a lan duffle bag as he fied and he threw it over the property wall just before he climbed over the same wall, running out to Whitney Ranch Drive.

Patrol Officers initiated a foot pursuit, issuing commands for the suspect to stop, however he continued to run leaving the duffle bag behind because he struggled to pick it back up quickly. The suspect ran across Whitney Ranch Drive, attempting to evade HPD Officers, however Officers were able to overtake the suspect and he was placed in custody after a short struggle due to the fact that the suspect refused to comply. The suspect was identified as Sean Orth (DOF "and was confirmed to be the same suspect identified in the previous robbery.

Due to the fact that Sean failed to yield to HPD Patrol Officers who initiated a lawful stop on a suspect in a felony crime, the fact that Sean then filed from Officers after jumping out of the suspect vehicle, and the fact that Sean failed to comply with lawful orders which resulted in a foot pursuit to take him into custody. Sean was taken into custody for NRS 199.280.3 Resist Public Officer and secured in an HPD Patrol Vehicle.

Page 1 of 4

Henderson Police Department

223 Lead Street, Henderson Nevada 89015

Declaration of Arrest

DR#: 20-18994

Due to the fact that Sean was the suspect in an armed robbery HPD ISD was contacted and I, Detective K. Lippisch, as well as, Detective D. Ozawa, Detective K. LaPeer, and Detective R. Christopher, responded and assumed the investigation. After being advised of the above facts Detective Christopher and I made contact with Sean while Detectives Ozawa and LaPeer contacted the victims of the robbery, Louis Polanco (DOB und Jessie Caracciolo (DOF

rammete

I was later advised by Detectives Ozawa and LaPeer that Louis and Jessie had differentiating accounts of what had occurred over the past week, however they both stated that Sean had left the apartment the prior evening with a tan duffel bag that contained property that belonged to them (Louis and Jessie), not Sean. Louis stated that Sean had displayed a handgun and told Louis that he was taking Louis' guns and laptop, and then had directed Louis to the master bedroom where the items were placed into the tan duffel bag. Sean then left the residence with the items that did not belong to him which included: Louis' black and red Smith and Wesson MMP Shield 9mm handgun (unknown serial #), Jessie's Winchester Model 12 20 Gauge Shotgun (unknown serial #), and Louis' Military ID. Sean exited the apartment, walked to Louis' 2007 white Chevrolet Malibu with NV Body Shop plate 6528, entered the driver side of the vehicle, and drove away. Louis advised that in addition to the above items Sean was also in possession of his laptop and cellular phone.

Jessle stated that she had not observed Sean with a handgun and although she felt that what had just transpired was odd, she did not know that Sean had committed the robbery until Louis told her because she had been seated in the klichen when this occurred. Louis did not initially want to report the incident due to the fact that Sean had threatened to come back and hurt them if the Police were notified, however Jessie convinced Louis that this needed to be reported so they called HPD, completed the report, HPD DR#20;18989, and stated they wanted to press charges for the crimes that Sean had committed.

Detective Christopher and I contacted Sean in the back of the patrol vehicle, and I advised him that I would like to interview him regarding the incidents that he had been involved in. Sean agreed to talk with me, and he was placed in the front passenger seat of my unmarked department vehicle. I entered the front driver seat and Detective Christopher entered the rear passenger seat. Sean immediately stated that he did not want to be read Miranda. I advised Sean that due to the fact that he was in handcuffs and not free to leave I was going to read him Miranda, which I did at 0842 hours, and which he stated he understood and waived. Sean then stated the following:

He has known Louis for approximately a week, as well as Louis' girlfriend however he could not recall her (Jessie's) name. He advised that he has been spending time with them, using the vehicle at times, and also using Louis' cellular phone because his vehicle is getting worked on and his cellular phone is busted. Sean stated that he had been at the apartment yesterday until approximately 1900 hours and then he left in the Chevrolet Malibu to go see his girlfriend, who he was never able to locate. Sean stayed out until approximately 0600 hours this morning, which is when he returned to the apartment, with the Chevrolet Malibu. Sean exited the vehicle with the tan duffel bag, which he stated had been inside the vehicle the entire time and he was just planning on bringing it inside the apartment for Louis since it was his. Sean walked up to the apartment door and knocked, however no one answered. Sean thought this was odd since he stated he was supposed to return the vehicle before sunise per his arrangement with Louis, so he continued knocking several times. After still getting no answer, Sean returned to the vehicle, still carrying the fan duffel bag, and then started to drive away. Sean had decided to go to the store and get milk before returning and attempting contact at the apartment again. Sean additionally stated that it was odd that no one answered because prior to arriving at the apartment he had used Louis' cellular phone to call Louis' girlfriend and tell her that he was on his way. Sean then stated that when he had been stopped by HPD Units the phone had been in his pocket.

Page 2 of 4

Henderson Police Department

223 Lead Street, Henderson Nevada 89015

Declaration of Arrest

DR#: 20-18994

As Sean started to drive towards the exit to the complex, he observed several HPD Patrol Vehicles and an HPD Motors Unit in the complex. Sean then observed that the marked patrol vehicles were following him and that they had activated their overhead lights and sirens. At first Sean thought they were attempting to pass him, but then he realized that they were attempting to stop and contact him. Sean immediately felt that he had been set up and that the duffel bag in the vehicle must contain items that would get him into trouble, so he didn't stop. Sean continued driving, swerving because he was reaching for the duffel bag, and then when he realized he wouldn't be able to make it out the exit gate Sean exited the vehicle with the duffel bag and fled, jumping the wall of the property.

I asked Sean why he would flee because he claimed that he had not done anything wrong and that he clidn't know what was inside the duffle bag (despite taking it with him when he fled). Sean responded by stating that he felt he had been set up and that it must be related to the duffel bag, and that he had made up his mind that he was going to try and get away.

Upon conclusion of the Interview I contacted Detectives Ozawa and LaPeer, advised them of the information that Sean had provided, and asked them to clarify previous statements that Louis and Jessie had made. Detectives re-interviewed Louis and Jessie and they did admit to the fact that they had allowed Sean access to the Chevy Malibu and the cellular phone, as well as the fact that Sean had been spending time at the apartment for approximately a week.

Due to the above facts Sean was transported to the Henderson Detention Center where he was booked accordingly for Resist Public Officer. A records search returned to reveal that Sean was also a convicted felon (trafficking controlled substance, ex-felon possess firearm, robbery w/ deadly weapon, evade Police Officer, manufacture short barrel gun, and assault) and that he was P&P Priority 5. Initial attempts to contact his Supervising Officer were negative, however contact was eventually made and his Supervising Officer was advised of the above facts.

Due to the fact that Sean was the suspect in an armed robbery, that he had been operating the 2007 white Chevrolet Malibu, the fact that he had been in possession of the tan duffel bag that had been recovered by HPD Patrol, as well as the fact that he had been in possession of Louis' cellular phone and had stated that he had used the phone, I authored a search warrant to be issued for the previous mentioned items including; the 2007 white Chevrolet Malibu bearing NV Body Shop plate 6528 that had been towed from the scene and secured in the Henderson Police Department CSA garage, the tan duffel bag currently secured at the Henderson Police Department Main Station, and Louis' black LG cellular phone which had been in Sean's possession and was currently secured with Sean's property at the Henderson Detention Center. The search warrant was reviewed and approved by Clark County Deputy District Attorney Marc DiGiacomo and then reviewed and signed by the Honorable Henderson Justice Court Judge David Gibson Sr.

On 10/29/2020 the search warrant was served on the items previously listed. The following items were located in the tan canvas bag: black Fuel motorcycle helmet, Winchester Model 12 .20 gauge shot gun (SN: 1291469), Federal Ammunition Hi-Brass .20 gauge ammunition live rounds (25 count), Surefire tactical light w/ mount, vice grips, Lenovo Laptop, and a Grace USA chisel tool.

Due to the above stated facts, specifically that fact that Sean is a convicted felon and currently P&P Priority 5 and the fact that Sean fled from Officers while in possession of the tan canvas bag which contained a Winchester Model 12 .20 gauge shotgun and 25 live rounds, I determined that there was probable cause to arrest Sean for NRS 202,360 Ex-felon Possess Firearm. Due to the fact that Sean is in custody at the Henderson Detention Center I arrested him at that location for this additional charge.

Page 3 of 4

Henderson Police Department 223 Lead Street, Henderson Nevada 89015

Declaration of Arrest

DR#: 20-18994

Wherefore, Declarant prays that a finding be made by a magistrate that probable cause exists to hold said person for preliminary hearing (if charges are a felony or gross misdemeanor) or for trial (if charges are a misdemeanor).

Page 4 of 4

	WATER CI	AA000058
	EXHCBUT Z	
"مين		
<u> </u>		
		·
"		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		.
,		

<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		
1995 		
{		
, -		

APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT PROPERTY TO BE SEIZED EXHIBIT 2

DR: 20-18994

- All forensic processing necessary to conduct and complete robbery w/ deadly weapon investigation
 which along with confirming and/or establishing the identity of the suspect, as well as any other
 persons present. This will include but will not be limited to latent processing, photographs as well
 as the collection of all trace, biological or other physical evidence from the vehicle and duffel bag.
- Forensic collection of items located in the vehicles and duffel bag which may contain or possess
 forensic value which need to be relocated to a laboratory environment for further processing.
- Any and all firearms, ammunition, and accessories to firearms deemed to possibly be related to the
 incident and the original call for service to the Henderson Police Department Dispatch.
- Limited items of personal property showing identity of persons having possessory interest or to
 establish or clarify who all the victims and suspects are. Such located information is at the discretion
 to be collected or photographed.
- Any and all locked devices which are able to contain anything of evidentiary value to this
 investigation.
- DNA buccal swabs, known exemplar prints, and photographs of/from the person of Sean Orth (DOB for comparison to forensic processing completed from the vehicle, duffel bag, and items located within previous locations.

Cellular Phones

 Any and all cellular phones, including any inserted data storage cards, power cords and/or charging materials, regardless of the phone's connection or service status.

Forensic Search

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