IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SEAN RODNEY ORTH,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Sep 11 2023 11:50 AM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 85229

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar #007902
The Law Firm of
C. Benjamin Scroggins, CHTD.
629 South Casino Center Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 3285550

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, both of Appellant’s issues on appeal are waived. Once Appellant pled guilty, he cannot raise legal or constitutional claims that occurred prior to the entry of his guilty plea.

Second, the district court did not err in denying Appellant’s Motion to Withdraw Plea of Guilty and Motion to Dismiss Charges. Based on the clear terms of Appellant’s GPA and Appellant’s affirmations during thorough plea canvass, it is apparent from the record that Appellant’s Waiver of Rights and guilty plea were intelligently, knowingly and voluntarily entered. The district court appropriately considered and weighed the totality of the circumstances and did not err in denying Appellant’s Motion to Withdraw Plea of Guilty and Motion to Dismiss Charges.

Third, Appellant’s conviction in this case for Felony Stop Required on Signal of Police Officer did not violate the double jeopardy clause because Appellant was

previously convicted of Misdemeanor Resisting a Public Officer. The charge of Stop Required on Signal of Police Officer arose out of different conduct than the actions forming the basis of the Resisting a Public Officer charge. The justice court properly found that the offenses of Stop Required on Signal of Police Officer and Resisting a Public Officer as charged by the State had different factual allegations to sustain the charges and that they were two (2) separate and distinct crimes. Appellant's conduct of attempting to flee from Officers Duffy, Brink and Hehn while driving his vehicle was separate and distinct from disobeying commands to stop by Officer Mangan and fleeing on foot from Officer Mangan.

Fourth, the justice court did not abuse its discretion in granting the State's Motion to Continue the preliminary hearing, and the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss on that basis. The State properly demonstrated good cause for the continuance. Either Detective Ozawa or Lapeer were necessary to the State's case for the preliminary hearing. Detectives Ozawa and Lapeer searched the bag in question that contained the firearm which formed the basis of the Possession of a Firearm by Prohibited Person charge. The record establishes that Detective Ozawa was out of town on vacation on the date of the preliminary hearing. This was a valid basis and constituted good cause for a continuance of the preliminary hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. BOTH OF APPELLANT’S ISSUES ON APPEAL ARE WAIVED

First, by pleading guilty, Appellant waived the right to challenge any legal or constitutional issues related to his charges and the continuance of his preliminary hearing. A defendant cannot enter a guilty plea then later raise independent claims alleging a deprivation of his rights before entry of the plea. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.3d 1070, n.24 (2005) (quoting Tollet v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973)). Generally, the entry of a guilty plea waives any right to appeal from events occurring prior to the entry of the plea. See Webb v. State, 91 Nev. 469, 538 P.2d 164 (1975). “[A] guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process. . . . [A defendant] may not thereafter raise independent claims relating to the deprivation of constitutional rights that occurred prior to the entry of the guilty plea.” Id. (quoting Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267).

In the instant appeal, Appellant is raising two (2) issues that he has raised repeatedly since his preliminary hearing in justice court and which have consistently been denied by several lower courts. Once Appellant pled guilty, he cannot raise legal or constitutional claims that occurred prior to the entry of his guilty plea. Any alleged issues with his charges and preliminary hearing occurred well before the

filing of his GPA and his entry of plea in this case. Therefore, both issues on appeal should be summarily denied by this Court.

II. APPELLANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA OF GUILTY AND MOTION TO DISMISS CHARGES WERE PROPERLY DENIED

If Appellant is attempting to appeal the denial of his March 9, 2022 Motion to Withdraw Plea of Guilty and Motion to Dismiss Charges denied on April 21, 2022, or his June 1, 2022 Motion to Dismiss Charges denied on August 1, 2022, the State’s response now follows.

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a district court’s ruling on a pre-sentence motion to withdraw a plea, “this Court will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea and will not reverse absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1322, 905 P.2d 706, 710 (1995) (quoting Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986)); Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 138, 848 P.2d 1060, 1060 (1993). “An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court’s decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason.” Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). To show that the district court abused its discretion, the defendant has the burden of proving that the district court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether the defendant knowingly and intelligently entered the plea. Stevenson v.

State, 131 Nev. 598, 603, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015); Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 721-22, 30 P.3d 1123, 1125-26 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea as long as they are supported by the record. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

When a defendant moves to withdraw a plea before sentencing, the district court must examine the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the plea was valid, and consider whether the defendant has any fair and just reason to withdraw their plea. NRS 176.165; State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court (Bernardelli), 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969); Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367; Stevenson, 131 Nev. at 599-600, 354 P.3d at 1278. A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into on the advice of counsel. Jeziarski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). The defendant has the burden of proving that the plea was not entered knowingly or voluntarily. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986); Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673, 615 P.2d 946 (1980); Housewright v. Powell, 101 Nev. 147, 710 P.2d 73 (1985).

In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. “A district court may not simply review the plea canvass in a vacuum.” Mitchel, 109 Nev. at 141, 848 P.2d at 1062. While a

more lenient standard applies pre-sentence motions to withdraw a guilty plea, Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 191, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004); a defendant has no right to withdraw his plea merely because the State failed to establish actual prejudice. See Hubbard v. State, 110 Nev. 671, 675-76, 877 P.2d 519, 521 (1994).

The proper standard set forth in Bryant requires the trial court to personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. Id. at 271; State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas “do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases.” Heffley v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973). It requires only “that the record affirmatively disclose that a defendant who pleaded guilty entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970); United States v. Sherman, 474 F.2d 303 (9th Cir. 1973).

Specifically, the record must affirmatively show the following: 1) the defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of punishment; and 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the elements of the crime. Higby

v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970). Importantly, “the record must affirmatively disclose that a defendant is entering his plea understandingly and voluntarily.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970). Consequently, in applying the “totality of circumstances” test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. See Hudson v. Warden, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001).

When the Nevada Supreme Court decided Stevenson v. State, it explained that district courts must consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair and just. Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 354 P.3d 1277 (2015). In doing so, the Court explained that Crawford v. State’s, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d 1123 (2001), holding is more narrow than contemplated by NRS 176.165 and disavowed an analysis focused solely upon whether the plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent in determining the validity of the plea. However, the Court in Stevenson also held that the appellant had failed to present a fair and just reason favoring withdrawal of his plea, and therefore affirmed his judgment of conviction. Stevenson, 131 Nev at 603, 354 P.3d at 1281.

In Stevenson, the Nevada Supreme Court found that none of the reasons presented warranted the withdrawal of Stevenson’s guilty plea, including allegations that the members of his defense team lied about the existence of the video in order

to induce him to plead guilty. Id. The Court found similarly unconvincing Stevenson's contention that he was coerced into pleading guilty based on the compounded pressures of the district court's evidentiary ruling, standby counsel's pressure to negotiate a plea, and time constraints. Id. As the Court noted, undue coercion occurs when a defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive the plea of the nature of a voluntary act. Id. (quoting Doe v. Woodford, 508 F. 3d 563, 570 (9th Cir. 2007)). Time constraints and pressure exist in every criminal case, are hallmarks of pretrial discussions, and do not individually or in the aggregate make a plea involuntary. Id. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281 (quoting Miles v. Dorsey, 61 F.3d 1459, 1470 (10th Cir. 1995)). Instead, the key inquiry for determining the validity of a plea is "whether the plea itself was a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." Id. at 604-05, 354 P.3d at 1281 (quoting Doe, 508 F. 3d at 570).

The Nevada Supreme Court also rejected Stevenson's implied contention that withdrawal was warranted because he made an impulsive decision to plead guilty without knowing definitively whether the video could be viewed. Id. at 604-05, 354 P.3d at 1281. The Court made clear that one of the goals of the fair and just analysis is to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision to enter a plea, wait several weeks, and then obtain a withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice

in pleading guilty. *Id.* at 604-05, 354 P.3d at 1281-82 (quoting *United States v. Alexander*, 948 F.2d 1002, 1004 (6th Cir. 1991)). After considering the totality of the circumstances, the Court found no difficulty in concluding that Stevenson failed to present a sufficient reason to permit withdrawal of his plea. *Id.* at 605, 354 P.3d at 1282. Permitting him to withdraw his plea under the circumstances would allow the solemn entry of a guilty plea to become a mere gesture, a temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the defendant's whim, which the Court cannot allow. *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Barker*, 514 F. 2d 208, 222 (D.C. Cir. 1975)).

B. Appellant Intelligently, Knowingly and Voluntarily Pled Guilty

Appellant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily signed his GPA filed on November 4, 2021, and in doing so, he affirmed that he understood the nature and consequences of pleading guilty. First, Appellant acknowledged that he was waiving his constitutional rights related to his right to proceed to a jury trial:

WAIVER OF RIGHTS

By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that *I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and privileges:*

1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including the right to refuse to testify at trial, in which event the prosecution would not be allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal to testify.
2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury, free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which trial I would be entitled to the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained. At trial the State would

bear the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who would testify against me.
4. The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.
5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.
6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). *I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4).* However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

VII AA 1220 (emphasis added).

The section of the GPA entitled “Voluntariness of Plea” further delineates the following statements that Appellant affirmed as true and accurate:

VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA

I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.

I understand that the State would have to prove each element of the charge(s) against me at trial.

I have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in my favor.

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been thoroughly explained to me by my attorney.

I believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attorney, and I am not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those set forth in this agreement.

I am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreement and its consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied with the services provided by my attorney.

VII AA 1221 (emphasis added).

Appellant's standby counsel also executed a "Certificate of Counsel" as an officer of the court affirming the following:

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of the court hereby certify that:

1. I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contained in the charge(s) to which guilty pleas are being entered.
2. I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the restitution that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.
3. I have inquired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant's immigration status and explained to Defendant that if Defendant is not a United States citizen any criminal conviction will most

likely result in serious negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:

- a. The removal from the United States through deportation;
- b. An inability to reenter the United States;
- c. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;
- d. An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
- e. An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States Federal Government based on the conviction and immigration status.

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